# IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGORIAN EDT

Transaction ID 76184685

Adrian Osborne

Plaintiff Below, Petitioner

v.

Kevin Mace, Montana Boyce, United Hospital Center, Inc., and West Virginia University Board of Governors Defendants Below, Respondents

On Appeal From the Circuit Court of Harrison County, West Virginia The Honorable D. Andrew McMunn (Civil Action No. 24-C-231)

#### BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR APPEAL

Michael D. Crim (WVSB# 7058)

**CRIM LAW OFFICE, PLLC** 

P.O. Drawer 1920 Clarksburg, WV 26302-1920 (T) 304-918-1001 (F) 304-918-1005

mdcrim@wvlawyers.com

Counsel for Plaintiff Below/Petitioner

### **

#### **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- 1. The Circuit Court committed reversible error when it dismissed Petitioner's lawsuit which was timely filed within two years of Petitioner reaching the age of eighteen (18) as provided for in W. Va. Code § 55-2-15.
- 2. The Circuit Court committed reversible error when it failed to conclude that W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4 violated the equal protection Clause found in Section III of Article X of the West Virginia Constitution in its application to Petitioner, who was a minor at the time of his injury and medical treatment, which denied Petitioner the benefit of the statute of limitations provided by W. Va. Code § 55-2-15.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 31, 2021, Petitioner presented to UHC after sustaining a lower right leg injury while playing high school soccer. *See, Pet Appx. p. 000005, 000121*. Petitioner was a minor on the date of the injury as his birthdate is September 13, 2004. *See, Pet Appx. p. 000004, 000121*. Respondent Mace was the attending physician at UHC who provided care and treatment to Plaintiff. *See, Pet Appx. p. 000005, 000121*. Mace ordered X-rays of Plaintiff's right tibia-fibula which revealed an acute comminuted fracture through the midportion of the tibia and an acute spiral fracture through the midportion of the fibula. *See, Pet Appx. p. 000005, 000121*. Mace noted that Plaintiff had calf tenderness, but that his compartments were not tense "as much as I can tell." *See, Pet Appx. p. 000005, 000121*.

After consulting with Dr. Joseph Fazalare, Mace ordered splinting of Plaintiff's right lower extremity. *See, Pet Appx. p. 000006, 000121.* While Mace's record indicates that Plaintiff was to be splinted, he advised Plaintiff and his father that he would be casted and that the hospital's cast team would be in to place the cast. *See, Pet Appx. p. 000006.* The medical records associated with Plaintiff's August 31, 2021, treatment do not document that a splint was applied

to Plaintiff's right lower extremity. *See, Pet Appx. p. 000006.* Plaintiff recalls that Boyce was the person who applied the splint and that he did so alone, without the assistance of the hospital's "cast team" or any other medical personnel. *See, Pet Appx. p. 000006.* Mace did not reevaluate Plaintiff following the splinting of his right lower extremity. *See, Pet Appx. p. 000006.* 

Plaintiff was diagnosed as having compartment syndrome on September 2, 2021, and underwent a four-compartment fasciotomy of his lower right extremity *See*, *Pet Appx. p. 000008*, 000122. Plaintiff filed the present civil action on September 12, 2024, within two years of attaining the age of 18. *See*, *Pet Appx. p. 000001*.

Petitioner filed suit against Respondents September 12, 2024. See, Pet Appx. p. 000001. Respondents, WVU and Mace filed a motion to dismiss on October 10, 2024, asserting that Petitioner's lawsuit was not timely filed. See, Pet Appx. p. 000017. Also on October 10, 2024, UHC and Boyce filed a separate motion to dismiss also based on the statute of limitations. See, Pet Appx. p. 000034. Petitioner filed separate responses to Respondents' motion to dismiss on November 14, 2024. See, Pet Appx. p. 000050 and 000062. Respondents filed a joint reply on December 11, 2024. See, Pet Appx. p. 000074. A hearing on Respondents' motions was held on January 7, 2025. The Court entered its Order Granting Defendants' Motion to Dismiss on January 31, 2025. See, Pet Appx. p. 000120.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court committed reversible error when it dismissed Petitioner's lawsuit which was timely filed within two years of Petitioner reaching the age of eighteen (18) as provided for in W. Va. Code § 55-2-15. Petitioner maintains that this issue was previously addressed in *Whitlow v. Board of Education of Kanawha County*, 190 W. Va. 223, 438 S.E.2d 15 (1993) and that the trial court erred in failing to follow its precedent.

Petitioner further maintains that the trial court committed reversible error when it failed

to recognize that *W. Va. Code* § 55-7B-4 violated the equal protection Clause found in Section III of Article X of the West Virginia Constitution in its application to Petitioner, who was a minor at the time of his injury and medical treatment, thereby denying him the benefit of the statute of limitations provided by W. Va. Code § 55-2-15. Petitioner further states that the trial court erred in concluding that there was a "rational basis" between the discriminatory treatment of Petitioner pursuant to the MPLA statute of limitations and the objectives of the MPLA as codified in *W. Va. Code* § 55-7B-1.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner maintains that the discrete issue addressed in this appeal has already been resolved by the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals in *Whitlow, supra*, and that it is appropriate for oral argument pursuant to Rule 19 of the *West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure*. However, Petitioner recognizes that *Whitlow* involved the interpretation of an identical statute set forth in the Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Act, not West Virginia's *Medical Professional Liability Act.*, and that there appear to be no reported cases that address the issues in the context of *W. Va. Code* § 55-7B-4<sup>1</sup>. As such, it would not be inappropriate for oral argument to proceed pursuant to Rule 20 of the *West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure*.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Petitioner appeals from an order granting a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. "Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is *de novo*." Syl. pt. 2, *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc.,* 194 W. Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995). Because this Intermediate Court of Appeal's review is *de novo*, it must apply the same standards applicable

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Petitioner is familiar with *Wilson v. Kerr*, 2020 W. Va. LEXIS 945 (2020). In *Wilson*, it appears that the Petitioner attempted to raise the statute of limitations applicable to minors under the age of 10, but the appeal was dismissed upon a finding that Petitioner failed to properly identify assignments of error.

to the circuit court in considering the motion. Pursuant to Syl. Pt. 2, *Whitlow, supra*, this Court is required to apply the "rational basis" test to determine whether *W. Va. Code* § 55-7B-4(a) violates the Equal Protection Clause of the West Virginia Constitution.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Circuit Court committed reversible error when it dismissed Petitioner's lawsuit which was timely filed within two years of Petitioner reaching the age of eighteen (18) as provided for in W. Va. Code § 55-2-15.

The issue to be answered by this appeal is straightforward. Does the statute of limitations provided in *W. Va. Code* § 55-7B-4, as applied to Petitioner, violate the Equal Protection Clause of the West Virginia Constitution. If this Court answers that question in the affirmative, Petitioner will be entitled to the benefit of the statute of limitations provided for in *W. Va. Code* § 55-2-15 and his action will have been timely filed. Conversely, if this Court concludes that *W. Va. Code* § 55-7B-4 does not violate the Equal Protection Clause, as applied to Petitioner, then his lawsuit was not timely filed.

West Virginia Code § 55-2-15 provides as follows:

(b) If any person to whom the right accrues to bring any personal action other than an action described in subsection (a) of this section, suit, or scire facias, or any bill to repeal a grant, shall be, at the time the same accrues, an infant or insane, the same may be brought within the like number of years after his or her becoming of full age or sane that is allowed to a person having no such impediment to bring the same after the right accrues, or after such acknowledgment as is mentioned in §55-2-8 of this code, except that it shall in no case be brought after 20 years from the time when the right accrues.

*Ibid.* The primary purpose of this savings statute is to extend the tolling period so that the rights of infants and incompetents may be protected." *See, Whitlow, supra,* 190 W. Va. 223, 231. As further acknowledged by the Court, a minor's "rights to file suit are entrusted to a parent or guardian, who may also be a minor, or who may be ignorant or unconcerned, and who, by inaction, could cause a minor to lose the right to file a claim. To require a child of tender years to seek out another adult to vindicate the claim would. . . ignore the realities of the family unit

and the limitations of youth." *Id.* This statutory protection of minors has been in existence in some form since West Virginia achieved statehood. Petitioner acknowledges that *W. Va. Code* § 55-2-15 is a general statute and that *W. Va. Code* § 55-7B-4 is a specific statute which generally is given precedence over a general statute as found by the trial court. *See, Pet Appx. p. 000125*.

Due to its precedential value, Petitioner's arguments below were based on the West Virginia Supreme Court's decision in *Whitlow, supra*, which previously declared unconstitutional a nearly identical statute, enacted by the state legislature in the same year and which contained similar legislative findings. The statute at issue in *Whitlow* was *W. Va. Code* § 29-12A-6 which had been enacted as part of the Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act.

Factually, the *Whitlow* case is similar to Petitioner's appeal as it involved a person, fifteen (15) years of age who was injured when the bleachers at her junior high school collapsed on September 17, 1987. Plaintiff filed a civil action against the Kanawha County Board of Education on March 28, 1991. The Defendant asserted that Plaintiff's claim was time-barred pursuant to *W. Va. Code* § 29-12A-6. Plaintiff argued that *W. Va. Code* 55-2-15 applied and that her civil action was timely filed. The trial court rejected Plaintiff's argument and determined that her action was time-barred pursuant to the provisions contained in *W. Va. Code* § 29-12A-6.

The discrete issue presented in *Whitlow* was whether the general tolling provisions of *W. Va. Code* 55-2-15 were superseded by the more specific tolling provisions set forth in *W. Va. Code* 29-12A-6. *Whitlow, supra,* at 190 W. Va. 225-226. For purposes of this appeal, Petitioner would point out that *W. Va. Code* 29-12A-6 are identical, or nearly identical, to the statutes of limitations provisions in *W. Va. Code* § 55-7B-4. *West Virginia Code* § 29-12A-6(a) provides:

An action against a political subdivision to recover damages for injury, death, or loss to persons or property allegedly caused by any act or omission in connection with a governmental or proprietary function, except as provided in subsection (b)

of this section, shall be brought within two years after the cause of action arose or after the injury, death or loss was discovered or reasonably should have been discovered, whichever last occurs or within any applicable shorter period of time for bringing the action provided by this code. This section applies to actions brought against political subdivisions by all persons, governmental entities, and the state.

#### *Ibid. West Virginia Code* § 29-12A-6(b) provides:

An action against a political subdivision to recover damages for injury, death, or loss to a minor, brought by or on behalf of a minor who was under the age of ten years at the time of such injury, shall be commenced within two years after the cause of action arose or after the injury, death or loss was discovered or reasonably should have been discovered, whichever last occurs, or prior to the minor's twelfth birthday, whichever provides the longer period.

*Ibid* (emphasis added). Conversely, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4(a) provides:

A cause of action for medical injury to a person alleging medical professional liability against a health care provider . . .arises as of the date of medical injury, except as provided in subsection (c) of this section, and must be commenced within two years of the date of such injury or death, or within two years of the date when such person discovers, or with the exercise of reasonable diligence, should have discovered such medical injury, whichever last occurs: Provided, That in no event shall any such action be commenced more than 10 years after the date of medical injury.

#### *Ibid. West Virginia Code* § 55-7B-4(c) provides:

A cause of action for injury to a minor, brought by or on behalf of a minor who was under the age of 10 years at the time of such injury, shall be commenced within two years of the date of such injury, or prior to the minor's 12th birthday, whichever provides the longer period.

#### Ibid. (emphasis added).

The *Whitlow* court, as will be discussed more fully below, concluded that *W. Va. Code* § 29-12A-6 violated constitutional equal protection rights and reversed and remanded the case to the trial court for further proceedings. This court should likewise follow the guidance provided by the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals in *Whitlow*. If it does, the result herein will be consistent with the holding in *Whitlow*; the Petitioner's statute of limitations will be governed by *W. Va. Code* § 55-2-15; and, his lawsuit will have been timely filed.

II. The Circuit Court committed reversible error when it failed to conclude that W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4 violated the Equal Protection Clause found in Section III of Article X of the West Virginia Constitution in its application to Petitioner, who was a minor at the time of his injury and medical treatment, which denied Petitioner the benefit of the statute of limitations provided by W. Va. Code § 55-2-15.

A legislative act which arbitrarily establishes diverse treatment for the members of a natural class results in invidious discrimination and where such treatment or classification bears no reasonable relationship to the purpose of the act, such act violates the equal protection and due process clauses of our federal and state constitutions. Syl. Pt. 1, *Oneil v. City of Parkersburg*, 160 W. Va. 694, 237 S.E.2d 504 (1977). In addressing the constitutional challenge to the application of *W. Va. Code* 29-12A-6(b) the *Whitlow* Court started its analysis of West Virginia's equal protection standard:

[w]here economic rights are concerned, we look to see whether the classification is a rational one based on social, economic, historic or geographic factors, whether it bears a reasonable relationship to a proper governmental purpose, <u>and whether ALL persons within the class are treated equally</u>. Where such classification is rational and bears the requisite reasonable relationship, the statute does not violate Section 10 of Article III of the West Virginia Constitution which is our equal protection clause. (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted).

Syl. Pt. 2, Whitlow, supra. See, also, In Syl. Pt. 1, State ex rel. Boan v. Richardson, 198 W.Va. 545, 482 S.E.2d 162 (1996).

Since *Whitlow*, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has provided further guidance to lower courts considering the "rational basis" analysis. The Supreme Court has confirmed that "equal protection of the law is implicated when a classification treats similarly situated persons in a disadvantageous manner." Syl. Pt. 11, *Marcus v. Holley*, 217 W. Va. 508, 523, 618 S.E.2d 517, 532 (2005).

In *Marcus*, *supra*, the West Virginia Supreme Court broke into four required elements the findings that a reviewing court is required to make when determining whether a classification satisfies the "rational basis" test and, therefore, satisfies equal protection principles. The four

required elements are the existence of a (1) rational classification based upon social, economic, historic or geographic factors; (2) a proper governmental purpose; (3) the classification's reasonable relationship to that purpose; and (4) equal treatment of all persons within the class. *Marcus, supra,* 217 W. Va. 508, 524. The trial court failed to address Petitioner's equal protection challenge based on this legal standard.

The trial court goes on to provide that the "Supreme Court of Appeals has already demonstrated its unwillingness to second guess the rationale expressed in *West Virginia Code* § 55-7B-1 in the fact of an equal protection challenge to the non-economic damages cap in a case decided after *Whitlow*." *See, Pet Appx. p. 000134*. The trial court's conclusion tends to suggests that it found no legitimate reason to further evaluate other provisions of the *Medical Professional Liability Act*. If true, this would support how the trial court erroneously concluded that the MPLA statute of limitations satisfied the "rational basis" test such that the unequal classification of minors did not violate equal protection principles in granting Defendants' motions to dismiss.

Moreover, as this court is well aware, upholding one portion of *W. Va. Code* § 55-7B-1, et seq., "cannot be read as sanctioning the constitutionality of the entire Act." *Whitlow, supra, at. p. 228. See, also,* Syl. Pt. 6, *Nuckols v. Athey,* 149 W. Va. 40, 138 S.E.2d 344 (1964), which provides that: "[a] statute may contain constitutional and unconstitutional provisions which may be perfectly distinct and separable so that some may stand and the others will fall; and if, when the unconstitutional portion of the statute is rejected, the remaining portion reflects the legislative will, is complete in itself, is capable of being executed independently of the rejected portion, and in all other respects is valid, such remaining portion will be upheld and sustained." (internal citation omitted).

It is noteworthy that the trial court chose not to consider any of the *Whitlow* court's and reasoning, particularly since the opinion addressed the same statute of limitations provision that

is now before this Court. Petitioner would also note that ss part of its analysis, the *Whitlow* court identified the legislative reasoning advanced for *W. Va. Code* 29-12A-6 as being to "limit potential litigation and, thereby, to assist political subdivisions in obtaining affordable insurance." *Whitlow, supra*, at 190 W. Va. 231. For clarity, the specific legislative findings set forth in the Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act provides:

The Legislature finds and declares that the political subdivisions of this State are unable to procure adequate liability insurance coverage at a reasonable cost due to: The high cost in defending such claims, the risk of liability beyond the affordable coverage, and the inability of political subdivisions to raise sufficient revenues for the procurement of such coverage without reducing the quantity and quality of traditional governmental services. Therefore, it is necessary to establish certain immunities and limitations with regard to the liability of political subdivisions and their employees, to regulate the insurance industry providing liability insurance to them, and thereby permit such political subdivisions to provide necessary and needed governmental services to its citizens within the limits of their available revenues.

West Virginia Code § 29-12A-2.

Like the Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Act, the legislative findings supporting the MPLA as set forth in *W. Va. Code* § 55-7B-1, et seq., generally relate to controlling the cost of liability insurance and controlling litigation. It is also worth pointing out that the same Legislature passed both Acts in 1986. Finally, Petitioner would point out that the legislative findings and declaration of purpose set forth in *W. Va. Code* § 55-7B-1, et seq., fail to identify how minors between the ages of ten (10) and seventeen (17) have affected the litigation of medical malpractice claims; caused liability insurance premiums to rise; created a climate that has impacted compensation to injured plaintiff; caused liability insurance costs to increase; impacted the State's inability to control or regulate insurance; caused medical providers to leave the state; or, the failure of the medical profession to regulate the competency of health care providers. With all of the similarities between *Whitlow* and Petitioner's appeal herein, it is striking that the trial court failed to give due consideration to its analysis and holdings.

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