IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 25-ICA-72

ICA EFiled: May 30 2025 03:21PM EDT **Transaction ID 76370593**

ADRIAN OSBORNE,

Plaintiff below, Petitioner,

v.

WEST VIRGINIA UNIVERSITY BOARD OF GOVERNORS, KEVIN MACE, M.D., MONTANA BOYCE, R.N., AND UNITED HOSPITAL CENTER, INC.,

Defendants Below, Respondents

RESPONDENTS' JOINT RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO PETITIONER'S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR APPEAL

Chelsea V. Brown (WVSB No. 11447) JACKSON KELLY PLLC 3000 Swiss Pine Way, Ste. 200 Morgantown, WV 26501 Telephone: (304)-284-4129 Fax: (304)-284-4142

chelsea.brown@jacksonkelly.com

Blair E. Wessels (WVSB No. 13707) Charleston, WV 25322

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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue before the Court is significant. Petitioner asked the circuit court below, and now again on appeal, to strike down a meaningful, constitutional act of the West Virginia Legislature in order to save his untimely Complaint. The circuit court correctly determined that Petitioner's Complaint against Respondents was time-barred. Petitioner argues that the Complaint "was timely filed within two years of Petitioner reaching the age of eighteen (18) as provided for in W. Va.

¹⁴ PetAppx 000017, 000034.

¹⁵ PetAppx 000050, 000062.

¹⁶ PetAppx 000074.

¹⁷ PetAppx 000137.

¹⁸ PetAppx 000120.

¹⁹ PetAppx 000124.

²⁰ PetAppx 000128.

Code § 55-2-15."²¹ But as the circuit court rightly determined, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4(a) is the statute of limitations applicable to Petitioner's medical malpractice claim. As such, Petitioner had until August 31, 2023, or at the latest September 2, 2023, to file his Complaint. Petitioner did not file his Complaint until September 12, 2024—over one year after the statute of limitations lapsed.

Petitioner seeks to escape dismissal by arguing that the provisions in W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4 are unconstitutional under the Equal Protection Clause of the West Virginia Constitution. However, Petitioner's Brief does not satisfy the rational basis test—the standard Petitioner must meet to successfully challenge the constitutionality of a statute. As argued herein, the statute of limitations at W. Va. Code §§ 55-7B-4(a) and (c) bear a reasonable relationship to a proper governmental purpose, as codified extensively at W. Va. Code § 55-7B-1. Petitioner has not presented any evidence or argument invalidating these legitimate governmental purposes, which are presumed to be valid under rational basis review.

Further, Petitioner's reliance on dicta within Whitlow v. Board of Education of Kanawha County, 190 W. Va. 223, 438 S.E.2d 15 (1993) to question the constitutionality of W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4 is misplaced. Whitlow does not conclude that W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4 violates equal protection; rather, Petitioner's citation to this portion of the Whitlow decision merely references dicta, which is not controlling here. Whitlow is also factually distinguishable due to the difference in deference granted to the Legislature in creating legislation relating to medical malpractice claims, specifically, as opposed to governmental immunities, more generally. Moreover, the Whitlow decision on this specific point is counteracted by the trend in upholding minors' statutes of limitation against equal protection challenges that have followed that decision.

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia and the West Virginia Legislature have

4

²¹ Pet'r's Br. in Supp. of Pet. for Appeal, at p. 5.

had ample opportunity to consider, reject, and/or reform W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4 in the 31 years since *Whitlow* has been decided, but they have never chosen to do so. This Court must resist Petitioner's suggestion that it sit in the position as a super-legislature to do what the West Virginia Legislature and the Supreme Court of Appeals have elected not to do.

Accordingly, this Court should reject Petitioner's appeal and affirm the circuit court's decision in granting Respondents' Motions to Dismiss.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Because this case presents issues of fundamental public importance, including whether a statute that was lawfully enacted by the West Virginia Legislature to address a problem within the Legislature's purview should be struck down as unconstitutional, Respondents request oral argument under Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure.²²

IV. ARGUMENT

The circuit court appropriately dismissed Petitioner's Complaint. The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has held that when reviewing an order granting or denying a motion to dismiss, the standard of review is *de novo*.²³ Specifically, "[w]here the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a *de novo* standard of review.²⁴ Further, "a motion to dismiss should be granted only where it is clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the allegations."²⁵ Applying this standard, Petitioner has failed to satisfy his burden of showing that

²² W. Va. R. App. P. 20.

²³ Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick*, 194 W. Va. 770, 773, 461 S.E.2d 516, 519 (1995) ("Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is *de novo*.").

²⁴ Syl. Pt. 1, Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W. Va. 138, 140, 459 S.E.2d 415, 417 (1995).

²⁵ Westmoreland v. Vaidya, 222 W. Va. 205, 209, 664 S.E.2d 90, 94 (2008) (quotation and citation omitted).

the circuit court erred in granting Respondents' Motions to Dismiss.

A. The circuit court did not err by dismissing Petitioner's Complaint.

1. Because Petitioner brought an action for medical negligence, the statute of limitations found in the MPLA, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4(a), applies.

Petitioner brought a medical malpractice action arising under West Virginia's MPLA, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-1, *et seq.* In his Complaint, Petitioner alleged failure to meet the standard of care by Dr. Mace, Nurse Montana Boyce, and UHC after Petitioner developed findings concerning for compartment syndrome, ²⁶ requiring surgical intervention to address that condition, the first of which took place on September 2, 2021. ²⁷ Petitioner alleged that the cause of the compartment syndrome was Dr. Mace's failure to order immobilization of Petitioner's fractures, ²⁸ failure to recheck Petitioner after the splint was applied, ²⁹ and improper application of a splint to then sixteen-year-old Petitioner's broken tibia and fibula by Nurse Montana Boyce at UHC's emergency department on August 31, 2021. ³⁰ It is undisputed that these allegations fall squarely under the definitions of alleged "medical injury" as defined in the MPLA. ³¹

Because this action for medical negligence is governed by the MPLA, Petitioner, who was sixteen years old at the time of the alleged injury, was required to commence his cause of action "within two years of the date of such injury or death, or within two years of the date when such person discovers, or with the exercise of reasonable diligence, should have discovered such

²⁶ PetAppx 000006–07.

²⁷ PetAppx 000006–08.

²⁸ PetAppx 000009.

²⁹ Id.

³⁰ PetAppx 000010.

³¹ Under W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(h), "'Injury' or 'Medical injury' means injury or death to a patient arising or resulting from the rendering of or failure to render health care."

medical injury, whichever last occurs. "32 Although Petitioner was a minor when injured, the statute of limitations found in W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4(a), which requires the injured party to bring the cause of action within two years from the date of the injury or discovery of the injury, applies to him. The MPLA includes a different statute of limitations that applies to minors who were under the age of ten at the time of their injury: "A cause of action for an injury to a minor, brought by or on behalf of a minor who was under the age of 10 years at the time of such injury, shall be commenced within two years of the date of such injury, or prior to the minor's 12th birthday, whichever provides the longer period." There is no question that the statute of limitations defined in W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4(c) for minors who suffered injury while under the age of ten does not apply to Petitioner. Accordingly, Petitioner should have filed his Complaint alleging medical negligence on or before August 31, 2023, or arguably at the very latest, September 2, 2023. However, nineteen-year-old Petitioner filed his Complaint alleging medical negligence on September 12, 2024, one year and twelve days after the two-year statute of limitations expired, per W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4(a).

The Supreme Court of Appeals has held that "statutes of limitations are favored in the law and cannot be avoided unless the party seeking to do so brings himself strictly within some exception. It has been widely held that such exceptions are strictly construed and are not enlarged by the courts upon considerations of apparent hardship."³⁴ Here, there is neither an exception nor any tolling provision that can operate to make Petitioner's Complaint timely filed under the MPLA.

³² W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4(a).

³³ W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4(c).

³⁴ Adkins v. Clark, 247 W. Va. 128, 133, 875 S.E.2d 266, 271 (2022) (citations omitted) (cleaned up).

First, the parties agree that the MPLA's tolling provisions³⁵ do not apply to this action. Petitioner sent the required pre-suit Notice of Claim and Certificate of Merit too late—on June 20, 2024,³⁶ two years, nine months, and 20 days after the alleged medical injury occurred. The filing of these pre-suit notice documents occurred after the closure of the statute of limitations.³⁷ Accordingly, the statute of limitations was never tolled by W. Va. Code § 55-7B-6(i)(1). Second, Petitioner does not dispute that he was not under the age of ten when the injury occurred, so the statutorily elongated period for minors does not apply to him. Finally, Petitioner does not argue that there is any other legal or equitable reason the MPLA's statute of limitation should be tolled to elongate the period within which he should have filed his Complaint. The circuit court found this when it determined, in accordance with the analysis in *Sager v. Duvert*,³⁸ that the discovery rule does not apply to this action, as Petitioner's pre-suit filings indicated knowledge of an alleged medical injury as early as August 31, 2021, or at the latest September 2, 2021, and that Petitioner made no allegation of fraudulent concealment by Respondents, such that Petitioner could argue that he was kept from the knowledge that he may have suffered medical injury.³⁹

_

³⁵ "... any statute of limitations applicable to a cause of action against a health care provider upon whom notice was served for alleged medical professional liability shall be tolled from the date of mail of a notice of claim to 30 days following receipt of a response to the notice of claim, 30 days from the date a response to the notice of claim would be due, or 30 days from the receipt by the claimant of written notice from the mediator that the mediation has not resulted in a settlement of the alleged claim and that mediation is concluded, whichever last occurs." W. Va. Code § 55-7B-6(i)(1).

³⁶ *See* PetAppx 000122.

³⁷ In *Sager v. Duvert*, 249 W. Va. 221, 229, 895 S.E.2d 76, 84 (2023), this Court discussed the timeline for filing pre-suit notice documents: "Petitioner had sufficient knowledge of the relevant facts related to his claim by May 11, 2018, the statute of limitations began to run on that date. Accordingly, Petitioner had until May 11, 2020, to serve the notice of claim to toll his statute of limitations under West Virginia Code § 55-7B-6(i)"

³⁸ *Id.* at 227, 895 S.E.2d at 82 (citing Syl. Pt. 5, in part, *Dunn v. Rockwell*, 225 W. Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255 (2009)).

³⁹ PetAppx 000127.

Importantly, Petitioner admitted to the circuit court and to this Court that if the MPLA's statute of limitations applies, "his Complaint was not timely filed." This is accurate, and precisely what the circuit court found after extensive legal analysis. Because W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4(a) applies to Petitioner's action, and because neither the MPLA's tolling provisions nor any other legal or equitable exceptions apply, Petitioner should have filed this action on or before August 31, 2023, or at the very latest, September 2, 2023. The circuit court's dismissal of Petitioner's action was not erroneous as Petitioner contends but is instead the only result supported by the facts and applicable law. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the circuit court's dismissal of Petitioner's Complaint for failure to file the action within the applicable statute of limitations.

2. Contrary to Petitioner's arguments, the special and general savings statute found in W. Va. Code § 55-2-15 does not apply to Petitioner's claims.

Without legal support, Petitioner asserts that the circuit court applied the wrong statute of limitations to his claims. Rather than apply W. Va. Code § 55-7B-4, Petitioner argues that the circuit court should have applied W. Va. Code § 55-2-15, which is West Virginia's special and general savings statute.⁴¹ Had the circuit court applied W. Va. Code § 55-2-15, Petitioner argues that his Complaint will have been timely filed.⁴² The special and general savings statute provides:

If any person to whom the right accrues to bring any personal action other than an action described in subsection (a) of this section, suit, or scire facias, or any bill to repeal a grant, shall be, at the time the same accrues, an infant or insane, the same may be brought within the like number of years after his or her becoming of full age or sane that is allowed to a person having no such impediment to bring the same after the right accrues, or after such acknowledgment as is

9

 $^{^{40}}$ See PetAppx 000055; see also Pet'r's Br. in Supp. of Pet. for Appeal, at p. 7.

⁴¹ See H.B. 2605, 2016 Leg., 82nd Sess., 2nd Reg. Sess., (W. Va. 2016): The 2016 amendment added the word "special" to the title and subsection (a) relating to personal actions for damages resulting from sexual abuse or assault suffered by an infant. The general savings language was moved to subsection (b).

⁴² Pet'r's Br. in Supp. of Appeal, at p. 7.

mentioned in § 55-2-8 of this this code, except that it shall in no case be brought after 20 years from the time when the right accrues.⁴³

W. Va. Code § 55-2-15 is nearly as old as West Virginia's statehood,⁴⁴ pre-dating the 1986 advent of the MPLA by approximately a century. When tasked with addressing issues related to statutory interpretation, the Supreme Court of Appeals has explained that there is a presumption that "legislators who drafted and passed [a statute] were familiar with all existing law, applicable to the subject matter, whether constitutional, statutory or common "⁴⁵

Accordingly, the 1986 Legislature that drafted the MPLA is presumed to have known of the general savings statute applicable to minors when it drafted the MPLA's statute of limitations applicable to minors. If the 1986 Legislature intended the general savings statute, W. Va. Code § 55-2-15, to apply to medical malpractice actions, it would not have drafted a redundant code section. This is especially true since "[i]t is a well known rule of statutory construction that the Legislature is presumed to intend that every word used in a statute has a specific purpose and meaning."⁴⁶

When faced with similar issues, courts in other jurisdictions have upheld the more specific statute over a general statute relating to the same subject matter. For example, in *Ho-Rath v. Rhode Island Hosp.*, 115 A.3d 938 (R.I. 2015), the Rhode Island Supreme Court was asked the same

⁴³ W. Va. Code § 55-2-15(b).

⁴⁴ See W. Va. Code Ann. § 55-2-15 (West). Acts 1882, c. 102, § 16; Acts 2016, c. 1, eff. June 10, 2016; Acts 2020, c. 2, eff. June 1, 2020. **Formerly** Code Va. 1849, c. 149, § 15; Code Va. 1860, c. 149, § 15; Code 1868, c. 104, § 16; Code 1923, c. 104, § 16. See also Robert W. Kerns, Jr. The History of the West Virginia Code, 120 W. Va. L. Rev. 165, 167 (2017) ("At the very beginning of its statehood, West Virginia simply adopted most of Virginia's laws.").

⁴⁵ State ex rel. Dep't of Motor Vehicles v. Sanders, 184 W. Va. 55, 58, 399 S.E.2d 455, 458 (1990).

⁴⁶ Wingett v. Challa, 249 W. Va. 252, 257, 895 S.E.2d 107, 112 (2023) (quotation and citation omitted).

question that is before this Court—whether Rhode Island's general savings statute applied instead of its medical malpractice statute, as it related to minors. The court held:

if the Legislature had intended [the medical malpractice statute] to toll the statute of limitations on a minor's malpractice claim until he or she reached the age of majority, then this provision would be functionally identical to [the general savings statute] § 9-1-19, which already accomplishes the same result in a general manner for personal injury actions. When § 9-1-14.1 was enacted in 1976, the general tolling provision for the claims of minors set forth in § 9-1-19 was a longstanding, well-established law.⁴⁷

Because the 1986 Legislature is presumed to have known of the existence of the general savings statute applicable to minors, and because each word in a statute must be presumed to have specific purpose and meaning, it must be assumed that the Legislature purposely included a statute of limitations applicable to minors who suffer health care injuries and intended for that statute of limitations to apply to minors who suffer health care injuries.

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